
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
DANIEL SCHUR, Individually, and on 

Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, 

 

   Plaintiff, 

 

 v. 

 

STRATEGIC FINANCIAL 

SOLUTIONS, LLC and STRATEGIC 

CONSULTING, LLC, RYAN SASSON 

and KIM CELIC, 

 

   Defendants. 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

)

) 

 
 
     Civil Action No.  17-cv-546 

 
 

 
CLASS AND COLLECTIVE 

ACTION COMPLAINT 
 
 

 

 
Plaintiff, Daniel Schur, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, by and 

through his undersigned counsel, as and for his Class and Collective Action Complaint against 

Defendants, Strategic Financial Solutions, LLC and Strategic Consulting, LLC, Ryan Sasson and 

Kim Celic (“Defendants”) respectfully allege as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff brings this action under the Fair Labor Standards Act (hereinafter the 

“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq., Articles 6 and 19 of the New York Labor Law and the New 

York Codes, Rules, and Regulations Subpart 142-2.2, 12 NYCRR 142 (hereinafter the “New 

York Labor Law”), to recover unpaid earned overtime compensation and for other relief.  This 

action is brought as a collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and as a New York state-

law class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3). 

2. Jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s FLSA claims is based upon Section 216(b) of the 

FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and upon 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 
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3.  The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law claims pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) because these claims are so related to the FLSA claims that they form 

part of the same case or controversy. 

4.  Venue in this district is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because a substantial 

part of the events giving rise to these claims occurred in this judicial district.  

PARTIES 

 5. Plaintiff Daniel Schur (“Schur”) is a resident of New York County, New York.  

6.  Schur was employed by Defendants as a sales consultant in New York from on or 

about June 2016 through December 2016.  At all relevant times, Schur was an “employee” as 

defined by the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203 and New York Wage and Hour Law. 

 7.  Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) of the FLSA, Schur’s written consent to become a 

party plaintiff is attached hereto as Exhibit “A.”  

8. Upon information and belief, the Defendants, Strategic Financial Solutions, LLC 

and Strategic Consulting, LLC (collectively “SFS”) are New York limited liability companies 

with their principal place of business located at 711 3rd Avenue, 6th Floor, New York, NY 10017.  

 9. At all relevant times, Defendant Ryan Sasson was the Chief Executive Officer of 

SFS.  At all times relevant, Ryan Sasson exercised operational control over SFS, controlled 

significant business functions of SFS, determined employee salaries, made hiring decisions, and 

acted on behalf of and in the interest of SFS in devising, directing, implementing, and 

supervising the wage and hour practices and policies relating to the employees.  As such, at all 

relevant times, Ryan Sasson was an “employer” as defined by the FLSA and New York Labor 

Laws. 29 U.S.C. § 203(d); N.Y. Lab. Law §§ 2(6), 651(6), 190(3). 
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  10. At all relevant times, Defendant Kim Celic was the Vice President of Human 

Resources of SFS.  Upon information and belief, at all times relevant, Kim Celic exercised 

operational control over SFS, controlled significant business functions of SFS, determined 

employee salaries, made hiring decisions, and acted on behalf of and in the interest of SFS in 

devising, directing, implementing, and supervising the wage and hour practices and policies 

relating to the employees.  As such, at all relevant times, Kim Celic was an “employer” as 

defined by the FLSA and New York Labor Laws. 29 U.S.C. § 203(d); N.Y. Lab. Law §§ 2(6), 

651(6), 190(3). 

FACTS 

 11. At all relevant times, SFS has employed sales consultants in New York at its 

offices located at 711 3rd Avenue, 6th Floor, New York, NY 10017 (hereafter “Plaintiffs”). 

 12. The primary job duty of Plaintiffs was to sell debt consolidation services to 

potential customers of Defendants.  These duties primarily involve interacting with potential 

customers by telephone and email. 

 13. Plaintiffs worked in excess of 40 hours in given workweeks. 

 14. During their employment, Plaintiffs generally worked 10 or more hours every 

Monday through Friday. 

 15. At all relevant times, the Defendants paid Plaintiffs on an hourly basis. 

 16. Defendants failed to make and maintain true and accurate records of all the time 

worked by Plaintiffs. 

 17. Except in limited circumstances, Defendants instructed Plaintiffs not to record 

more than 40 hours in any given workweek, notwithstanding their knowledge that Plaintiffs 

routinely worked far in excess of 40 hours each workweek. 
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 18. Defendants did not pay Plaintiffs time and a half his regular rate of pay for all 

time worked in excess of 40 hours in given workweeks. 

 19. As a result of the above-stated practices, Plaintiffs suffered a loss of wages. 

 20. Defendants managed Plaintiffs’ employment, including the amount of overtime 

worked.  Defendants dictated, controlled, and ratified the wage and hour and all related 

employee compensation policies.  

21.   Defendants’ failure to Plaintiffs all overtime earned was without good faith, 

willful, and with reckless disregard for Plaintiffs’ rights. 

FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

 

 22. Plaintiff seeks to proceed as a collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) on 

behalf of himself and the following class of persons: 

All sales consultants who worked for Defendants at any time from three (3) years 
prior to the filing of this action to the entry of judgment who have not been paid 
overtime for all time worked in excess of 40 in any given workweek (hereinafter 
“FLSA Class”). 
 

 23. Plaintiff and other members of the FLSA Class are similarly situated inasmuch as, 

inter alia, Defendants required them to work in excess of 40 hours a week without paying them 

overtime compensation.   

 24. Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff and similarly situated 

employees performed work that required overtime compensation.  Nonetheless, Defendants have 

operated under a scheme to deprive Plaintiff and the other members of the FLSA Class of 

overtime compensation by failing to properly compensate them for all overtime worked. 
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NEW YORK LABOR LAW CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

 

 25. Plaintiff also seeks to maintain this action as a class action, pursuant to Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 23(b)(3), on behalf of himself individually and all other similarly situated employees who 

worked as sales consultants for Defendants at any time within the last three years. 

 26. Plaintiffs all worked under common employment policies, were subject to the 

same compensation scheme, and were subject to the same practices challenged in this action as 

described above. 

Class Definition 

 27. Plaintiff seeks certification of a class consisting of the following individuals: 

All sales consultants who worked for Defendants at any time from six years prior 
to the filing of this Action to the entry of judgment who have not been paid 
overtime for all time worked in excess of 40 in any given workweek (hereinafter 
the “New York Class”). 
 

Numerosity 

 28. More than 40 sales associates were employed by Defendants who were subject to 

the same practices challenged in this action as alleged above and not paid overtime compensation 

for all time worked in excess of 40 in given workweeks.  Accordingly, Plaintiff satisfies the 

numerosity requirements as the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.   

29. Members of the proposed class can be identified and located using the 

Defendants’ payroll and personnel records.  Class members may be informed of the pendency of 

this action by direct mail and/or published and broadcast notice. 

Common Questions of Fact or Law 

 30. There are questions of fact and law common to each class member and each of the 

respective classes which predominate over questions affecting only individual members, if any.  
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Plaintiff, the members of the New York Class and Defendants have a commonality of interest in 

the subject matter and the remedy sought. 

 31. If individual actions were required to be brought by each member of the classes 

injured or affected, the result would be a multiplicity of actions, creating a hardship to the New 

York Class, to the Court, and to Defendant. Accordingly, a class action is an appropriate method 

for the fair and efficient adjudication of this lawsuit and distribution of the common fund to 

which the Classes are entitled.  

Typicality 

 32. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the class members.  As a result of 

Defendants’ unlawful conduct, Plaintiff suffered similar injuries as those suffered by other 

members of the class he seeks to represent. 

Adequacy 

 33. Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the class he seeks to represent because he 

is a member of the class, and his interests do not conflict with the interests of the members of the 

class he seeks to represent.  The interests of the class members will be fairly and adequately 

protected by Plaintiff and his undersigned counsel.  Plaintiff has hired competent attorneys who 

are experienced in class action litigation of this type and who are committed to the prosecution of 

this Action. 

Superiority 

34. A class action is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy because individual joinder of the parties is impracticable.  Class 

action treatment will allow a large number of similarly situated persons to prosecute their 
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common claims in a single forum, simultaneously, efficiently, and without the unnecessary 

duplication of effort and expense if these claims were brought individually. 

35.  Moreover, as the damages suffered by each class member may be relatively small, 

the expenses and burden of individual litigation would make it difficult for each class member to 

bring individual claims.   

36. The presentation of separate actions by individual class members could create a 

risk of inconsistent and varying adjudications, establish incompatible standards of conduct for 

Defendants and/or substantially impair or impede the ability of class members to protect their 

interests.  

COUNT I 

VIOLATION OF THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT 

29 U.S.C. § 201, ET SEQ. 

FAILURE TO PAY EARNED OVERTIME 
 
 37.  Plaintiff reasserts and realleges the allegations set forth in each of the above 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

 38. The FLSA regulates the payment of wages by employers whose employees are 

“engaged in commerce or engaged in the production of goods for commerce, or are employed in 

an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce.”  29 U.S.C. § 

207(a)(1). 

 39.  Defendants are and were subject to the overtime pay requirements of the FLSA 

because they are an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce.   

 40.  The gross annual volume of sales made or business done by Defendants for the 

years 2014, 2015 and 2016 was not less than $500,000.00. 

 41. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and members of the FLSA Class have been entitled 

to the rights, benefits, and protections granted by the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207, et seq. 

Case 1:17-cv-00546   Document 1   Filed 01/25/17   Page 7 of 11



8 
 

 42. Section 207(a)(1) of the FLSA states that an employer must pay its employees 

overtime equal to at least one and one half times the employee’s regular rate of pay, for all hours 

worked in excess of 40 in any given workweek. 

 43. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants violated the FLSA by 

failing to pay Plaintiff and members of the FLSA Class overtime compensation as required. 

 44. Plaintiff and members of the FLSA Class are victims of a uniform company-wide 

compensation policy.  Defendants applied this uniform policy to all members of the FLSA Class 

in violation of the FLSA, and have deprived them of earned overtime compensation. 

 45. Defendants have acted willfully and have either known that their conduct violated 

the FLSA or have shown reckless disregard for the matter of whether their conduct violated the 

FLSA.  Defendants have not acted in good faith with respect to the conduct alleged herein. 

46. As a result of Defendants’ violations of the FLSA, Plaintiff and the members of 

the FLSA Class have suffered harm and are entitled to recoup their unpaid wages and other 

losses in an amount to be determined at trial, along with liquidated damages, interest and 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

COUNT II 

VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK LABOR ARTICLE 6 AND 19 

FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME UNDER NEW YORK LABOR LAW 

 

 47. Plaintiff Schur reasserts and realleges the allegations set forth in each of the above 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

 48. At all relevant times, Schur was employed by Defendants within the meaning of 

New York Labor Law §§ 2 and 651. 
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 49. Under New York law, an employee must be paid overtime, equal to one and one 

half times the employee’s regular rate of pay, for all hours worked in excess of 40 per week in 

the manner and methods provided by the FLSA.  12 NYCRR § 142-2.2.  

 50. By engaging in the above-alleged conduct, Defendants have failed to pay 

members of the New York Class overtime compensation as required by the New York Labor 

Law. 

 51. Schur and the other members of the New York Class are victims of a uniform 

company-wide compensation policy.  This uniform policy, in violation of the New York Labor 

Law, has been applied to all members of the New York Class and has deprived them of earned 

overtime compensation. 

 52. Defendants have acted willfully and have either known that their conduct violated 

the New York Labor Law or have shown a reckless disregard for the matter of whether their 

conduct violated the New York Labor Law.  Defendants have not acted in good faith with 

respect to the conduct alleged herein. 

53. As a result of Defendants’ violations of the New York Labor Law, Schur and the 

other members of the New York Class have suffered harm, and are entitled to recoup their 

unpaid wages and other losses in an amount to be determined at trial, along with liquidated 

damages, interest and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, by 

and through his attorneys, demand judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally and in 

favor of Plaintiff and all others similarly situated, for a sum that will properly, adequately, and 
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completely compensate Plaintiff and all others similarly situated for the nature, extent, and 

duration of the damages, costs of this action, and as follows: 

A. Order the Defendants to file with this Court and furnish to counsel a list of 
all names and addresses of all sales consultants who currently work for or 
who have worked for Defendants within the last six years; 
 

B. Authorize Plaintiffs’ counsel to issue a notice at the earliest possible time 
to all current and former sales consultants employed by the Defendants 
during the six years immediately preceding this Action, informing them 
that this Action has been filed, of the nature of the Action, and of their 
right to opt into this lawsuit if they worked in excess of 40 hours in a week 
during the liability period, for which they were not paid the required 
overtime in accordance with the FLSA and New York Labor Law; 

 
C. Certify this case as a Rule 23 class action under the state law of New 

York; 
 
D. Declare and find that the Defendants committed one or more of the 

following acts: 
 

1. Violated provisions of the FLSA by failing to pay overtime 
wages to Plaintiff and similarly situated employees who opt 
into this action; 

 
2. Willfully violated the overtime provisions of the FLSA; 

 
3. Violated the provisions of the New York Labor Law by 

failing to pay overtime wages to Plaintiff and members of 
the New York Class;  

 
4. Willfully violated the applicable provisions of the New 

York Labor Law; 
 
E. Award compensatory damages, including all overtime compensation 

owed, in an amount according to proof; 
 

F. Award liquidated damages; 
 
G. Award interest; 
 
H. Award all reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred; 
 
I. Grant leave to add additional Plaintiffs by motion, the filing of written 

consent forms, or any other method approved by the Court; and, 
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J. Provide such further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 
 

 
 

JURY DEMAND 

 
Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

 
 
 
Dated: January 25, 2017   Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 

/s/ James B. Zouras   
James B. Zouras* 
Ryan F. Stephan* 
Teresa M. Becvar* 
Stephan Zouras, LLP 
205 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 2560 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
312-233-1550 
312-233-1560 f 
jzouras@stephanzouras.com 
www.stephanzouras.com 
* Subject to admission to this Court pro hac vice 
 
/s/ Jonathan I. Nirenberg_______________ 
Rabner Baumgart Ben-Asher & Nirenberg, PC 
52 Upper Montclair Plaza 
Upper Montclair, New Jersey 07043 
(973) 744-4000 
jnirenberg@njemploymentlawfirm.com 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
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